IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Ohief Departy Clerk

By_

THE FLORIDA BAR,

complainant,

vs .

••••••••••

Supreme Court Case No. 86,586

K. KRISTINE NOWACKI,

Respondent.

On Petition for Review of the Report of a Referee

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

K. KRISTINE NOWACKI 1001 S. Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-7703 Florida Bar No. 075021

Pro Se

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

In 1995 The Florida Bar filed a complaint against Respondent alleging violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct in her representation of five clients. In regard to William Ludecker (Count I; Fla. Bar No. 95-31,168(07C)), the Bar alleged that Respondent violated Rule 4-1.3 by failing act with reasonable diligence and promptness to in representing a client; and violated Rule 4-1.4 by failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information and failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation. (Bar Complaint at 4, ¶ 11).

In regard to Ann Rogers [Count 11; Fla. Bar No. 95-31,421 (07C)], the Bar alleged that Respondent violated Rule 4-8.4(c) by engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. (Bar Complaint at 5, ¶ 16).

In regard to Franklin Burns [Count 111; Fla. Bar No. 95-31,597 (07C)], it was alleged that Respondent violated Rule 4-1.2(a) by failing to abide by a client's decision concerning the objectives of representation, and failing to consult with the client as to the means by which such objectives are to be pursued; violated Rule 4-1.3 by failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; violated Rule 4-1.4(a) by failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a

- 1 -

matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; and violated Rule 4-5.1(b) by having direct supervisory authority over another lawyer and failing to make reasonable efforts to ensure that the other lawyer conforms to the Rules of Professional Conduct. (Bar Complaint at 7-8 ¶ 22).

In Count IV [Fla. Bar No. 95-31,715 (07C)] and Count V [Fla. Bar No. 95-31,718 (07C)], the Bar alleged that in representing Perry White and Teresa Arrington respectively, Respondent violated Rule 4-1.3 by failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; and violated Rule 4-1.4 by failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information and failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation. (Bar Complaint at 9, \P 27; at 11, \P 32).

On July 9, 1996, a hearing was held before the Honorable Bill Parsons, who had been appointed as referee in the matter. Ann Rogers and Teresa Arrington appeared and testified, as did Respondent. William Ludecker, Franklin Burns and Perry White did not testify, although depositions of Ludecker and White were admitted into evidence. (Tr. 1, 3, 4, 29, 39). The referee issued a report which was entered on November 18, 1996. In the report, the referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of all rule violations as

- 2 -

charged. He also recommended that Respondent be suspended for no less than 91 days.

Counts 11, III and V involved alleged violations during a period of time when Respondent was undergoing treatment for breast cancer, including two surgeries and radiation treatment. During this period of time Respondent was often not personally available to clients, but she employed associates who handled most of the routine aspects of her practice. Counts III and V arise out of complaints by clients who were upset with their inability to have personal access to Respondent during this period of time.

Since the argument in regard to each issue is highly fact-specific, the facts pertinent to each count will be discussed in conjunction with that count.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The record does not support the referee's finding that Mr. Ludecker's letters continually requested Respondent to take action in his case. In only one letter did Mr. Ludecker unequivocally request that Respondent take any action. Furthermore, Respondent was not charged in the Bar's complaint with failure to take action in regard to a settlement after June of 1994. Thus, Respondent was not provided with sufficient notice of such a violation to satisfy due process. No findings were **made** by the referee which support his conclusion that Respondent failed to keep Mr. Ludecker informed about the status of his case.

- 3 -

Respondent was not provided with notice that she was charged with failing to provide Mr. Ludecker with a copy of his file. The finding is not supported by record evidence and the lack of notice as to such a charge deprives Respondent of due process. No findings support the referee's conclusion that Respondent failed to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation.

2. The evidence before the referee was not sufficient to support a finding as to Count II that Respondent engaged in dishonest conduct. The evidence established only that one paycheck to Ann Rogers bounced, and was later made good, and that Ms. Rogers was not paid for eight disputed hours in her last week of employment in Respondent's office. This evidence was insufficient to establish the element of intent which is required for a determination that an attorney has engaged in dishonest conduct.

3. The factual findings by the referee are in part not supported by the record. Furthermore, the facts as found do not support a conclusion that any rule violations occurred. The record does not support the factual finding that Respondent knew little about her associate, Mark Kwas. It does not support the conclusion that Respondent failed to abide by the client's decision concerning the objectives of representation, because the fact that Mr. Kwas was performing work an the case had no bearing an the objectives of representation and there was no decision by the client

- 4 -

with which Respondent failed to abide. The fact that work on the case was performed by an associate does not constitute part of the "means" by which an objective was to be pursued. Likewise the fact that Mr. Kwas was performing services did not of itself render those services nondiligent or unprompt, regardless of the client's expectations regarding who would be performing those services. There was no basis for concluding that Respondent failed to keep the client reasonably informed or to comply with reasonable requests for information. Apart from Respondent's illness, there was no finding as to any information Respondent failed to provide, and her illness had no bearing on the status of the case. There was no finding or evidence of requests for information by the client. There can be no determination of failure to make reasonable efforts to ensure rule compliance by a subordinate attorney when there is no evidence of a rule violation by the subordinate, and there is no such evidence here. Furthermore, there was no evidence of efforts taken by Respondent to ensure conformity to the rules by the subordinate, so there was no basis for a determination that those efforts were unreasonable.

4. Although the referee concluded as to Count IV that Respondent failed to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing Mr. Perry White, there are no findings pertaining to diligence and promptness. The finding that Respondent failed to consult with Mr. White concerning the "serious status of his bankruptcy on his immigration

- 5 -

matter" is contrary to the only evidence presented on the subject. Respondent did not consult with Mr. White about this, but candidly told him she did not know the answer to his questions. The finding that Respondent failed to discuss the client's request for a refund is also unsupported. Mr. White never testified that he asked to speak with Respondent personally about the request. He did speak with Respondent's associate, and was advised that he was not entitled to a refund.

5. The finding that Respondent told Teresa Arrington that Ms. Arrington would be charged to come to Respondent's office to get a letter of protection is clearly erroneous. Ms. Arrington's testimony in this regard was contradictory and inherently incredible. Even if this testimony is accepted as true, it does not support a conclusion that Respondent failed to act with diligence and promptness or that she failed to keep Ms. Arrington reasonably informed about the status of her case. There was no evidence or finding as to any request for information by Ms. Arrington. The conclusion that Respondent failed to comply with such a request is accordingly not supported by the record. The conclusion that Respondent failed to explain the matter to Ms. Arrington to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make an informed decision is also not supported by the record. The findings do not identify, nor could they, any matter which Respondent failed to explain to Ms. Arrington.

- 6 -

6. Any rule violations which may be found to have occurred would not warrant a suspension because Respondent's prior violations did not involve the same or similar conduct. The referee failed to adequately take into consideration the personal crisis in which Respondent had been involved in weighing the mitigating factors.

ARGUMENT

COUNT I WILLIAM LUDECKER

The referee made the following conclusions in respect to Count I of the Bar's complaint:

> I find clear and convincing evidence that the respondent failed to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing Mr. Ludecker and further failed to keep Mr. Ludecker reasonably informed about the status of his case and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information in violation of R. Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; and 4-1.4 for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of а matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information and failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation.

Mr. Ludecker did not appear before the referee, but his testimony had been taken in a deposition. Respondent's representation of Mr. Ludecker began in March of 1994. (Report of Referee at 2, ¶3). Mr. Ludecker's wife had commenced an action for dissolution of their marriage. At the outset of the case Mr. Ludecker did not want a divorce.

21). Mr. Ludecker had office conferences with (Tr. Respondent on March 21 and April 7 of 1994. A temporary hearing on the matter was held on May 26, 1994. (Respondent's Ex. 25). In June, Respondent conferred with the wife's counsel about a possible settlement, but the parties were unable to come to terms. (Tr. 146). On June 30 Ludecker wrote a letter to Respondent complaining that Mr. his fee was higher than the fee his wife was paying and also including the statement, in bold letters, "PLEASE GET THE MATTER SETTLED."

On August 9 Mr. Ludecker wrote another letter addressed to both Respondent and the wife's counsel stating that Mr. Ludecker's daughter, who had been living with the wife, had found his wife and another man "in a very passionate embrace on the floor in front of the TV in our home.11 He also stated that his wife had "requested and approved for" his daughter to move in with him.¹ He concluded by stating, "This should go on record with the court and divorce proceedings." A copy of the letter was also sent by Mr. Ludecker to the judge in the case. (Respondent's Ex. 18). At some point thereafter Mr. Ludecker spoke on the telephone with Respondent. Mr. Ludecker could not remember the conversation exactly, but stated that he asked what they could do about child support and she replied that they could not do anything about it at

¹ Mr. Ludecker's wife, however, refused to sign an agreement changing custody. (Ludecker depo. at 14). There is no evidence that Mr. Ludecker ever obtained physical or legal custody of the daughter.

that time. (Tr. 13). A request to have the matter set for trial was submitted on September 29. (Tr. 145). On October 9 Mr. Ludecker discharged Respondent.

One of the rule violations which the referee determined to have been committed was failure to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing Mr. Ludecker. The facts specifically found in regard to this conclusion are that "[t]he client's letters to the respondent continually request the respondent to take action in his **case**" and that "[t]he respondent's own statement of services does not indicate that any further settlement conferences took place subsequent to June, **1994....**" (Report of Referee at 4, **¶9**).

The record does not support the finding that Mr. Ludecker continually requested Respondent to take action in his case. The overwhelming majority of the letters sent by Mr. Ludecker to Respondent merely provided information which Mr. Ludecker apparently perceived to be pertinent to his case. The June 30 letter did state that he wanted Respondent to get the case settled. This is the only letter in which he specifically requested that any action be taken. The August 9 letter stated that "[t]his should go on record with the court and divorce proceedings," but Mr. Ludecker personally sent a copy of the letter to the judge who had been handling the case. Thus, it certainly was not an express request for Respondent to perform any action on his behalf.

The conclusions as to rule violations apparently were all based on the fact that Respondent's bill to Mr. Ludecker

- 9 -

did "not indicate that any further settlement conferences took place subsequent to June, 1994...." (Report of Referee at 4, ¶ 9). None of the allegations in the **Bar's** complaint put Respondent on notice that the failure to engage in further settlement conferences after June of 1994 was considered the basis of a rule violation.² Furthermore, this was not even raised as a possible problem during the hearing before the referee. The lack of notice that this could constitute a rule violation deprived Respondent of the opportunity to defend against it and accordingly denied her due process of law.

Respondent is aware that a referee may properly report findings of rule violations other than those alleged in the complaint, but this is so only if the allegations otherwise put the Respondent on notice that the facts concerning the unalleged violation are under scrutiny. See, The Florida Bar v. Vaughn, 608 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1992). Where the lack of notice effectively denies an attorney accused of rule violations the opportunity to respond, due process is violated. See, Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel of the Supreme Court of Ohio, 471 U.S. 626, 654, 105 S. Ct. 2265, 85 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985); In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544,

The complaint's factual allegations apparently considered by the Bar to support rule violations were: discussing matters unrelated to Mr. Ludecker's divorce during office conferences with him (Complaint \P 4); appearing at a hearing on Mr. Ludecker's behalf without necessary documents (Id. \P 5); failing to return Mr. Ludecker's telephone calls (*Id.* \P 6); failing to adequately respond to Mr. Ludecker's written inquiries concerning his case (*Id.* \P 7); and failing to provide Mr. Ludecker with a copy of the court's order requiring him to pay child support (*Id.* \P 8).

551, 88 s. ct. 1222, 20 L.Ed.2d 117 (1968). Here, the referee in effect moved the goal posts after the hearing had been completed. Respondent was not put on notice of the need to explain any activity in the case which may not have been reflected in the billing she submitted to Mr. Ludecker.

The referee also concluded that Respondent failed to keep Mr. Ludecker informed about the status of his case. None of the factual findings made by the referee support this conclusion. Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(A) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar provides that the referee's report shall include "a finding of fact as to each item of misconduct of which the Respondent is charged.... " (Emphasis supplied). The complaint alleged that Respondent failed to provide Mr. Ludecker with a copy of the circuit **court's** order requiring him to pay child support. Respondent disputed this (Tr. 153), and the referee did not make any finding as to this item 3 The "finding" in paragraph 9 of the report in regard to failure to keep Mr. Ludecker reasonably informed about the status of his case is nothing more than a pure legal accordingly does not satisfy conclusion, and the requirements of Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(A) that there be a finding of fact as to each item of alleged misconduct.

The referee further found that Respondent failed to comply with reasonable requests for information. The referee

³ Mr. Ludecker testified in his deposition that at some unspecified point in time he mislaid all of his papers pertaining to the case. (Ludecker depo. at 36).

did make a specific finding that Mr. Ludecker's request for a copy of his file was never granted by Respondent. The Bar's complaint, however, did not allege this as an item of complaint misconduct. The did allege generally that Respondent failed to promptly comply with reasonable requests for information, but did not mention a refusal to comply with a request for his file. Rule 3-7.6(q)(1)(B)provides that "[t]he complaint shall set forth the particular act or acts of conduct for which the attorney is sought to be disciplined." If the Bar intended in its complaint to charge Respondent with failing to comply with a request to provide a copy of the file to Mr. Ludecker, then Bar failed to comply with the foregoing pleading the requirement. In any event, the complaint failed to put Respondent on notice that she had to defend against such a charge.

In this regard it should be noted that Mr. Ludecker never testified that he personally requested Respondent to provide him with a copy of the file. His testimony was that he made this request to Respondent's secretary. (Ludecker depo. at 23). In the absence of any evidence that Respondent was ever made aware of **any** such request, the finding actually made by the referee is unsupported by the record. In the absence of notice of the need to defend against this claim, the imposition of discipline on the basis of this finding would violate **Respondent's** right to due process of law.

- 12 -

The complaint also alleged that Respondent failed to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation. In his factual findings, the referee did not make **any** conclusion that this rule had been violated. (Report of Referee at 4, ¶ 9). In his "Rule Violations Found," however, the referee did conclude that Respondent had violated this rule. There are no factual findings pertaining to this charge. There is no finding which identifies any matter which Respondent failed to explain to Mr. Ludecker. Furthermore, there is no finding as to any decision to be made by Mr. Ludecker which required an explanation from Respondent. The findings as to the lack of any indication in the bill as to settlement conferences after June of 1994 and of the failure to provide Mr. Ludecker with a copy of his file, even assuming arguendo that they are otherwise proper, nevertheless could not support a conclusion that Respondent failed to explain any matter to the extent necessary to permit Mr. Ludecker to make informed decisions regarding the representation. Those findings are not pertinent to such a charge.

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent was not properly found guilty of any of the rule violations alleged in regard to her representation of Mr. Ludecker.

COUNT II - ANN ROGERS

The referee concluded that Respondent had engaged in "dishonest conduct" on the basis of two incidents pertaining to Respondent's employment of Ms. Rogers as her associate. The referee's conclusion was as follows:

> I find the respondent's conduct in failing to properly reimburse Ms. Rodgers to her last week of employment as well as bouncing a check for her, which was returned twice by the financial institution; involved dishonest conduct in regard to the R. Regulating the Florida Bar 4-8.4(c) as charged.

The facts surrounding these incidents are largely undisputed. The finding — actually a legal conclusion that these incidents constituted "dishonest conduct" — cannot be supported by the record. The first incident chronologically was Respondent's issuance to Ms. Rogers of a paycheck which bounced. Respondent testified that the paycheck bounced because a client's check she had deposited in her own account bounced. She believed the paycheck would be honored at the time she wrote it. After she was notified by her bank that the client's check had bounced, she informed Ms. Rogers to expect that the paycheck would be returned. (Tr. 96). This testimony is uncontradicted. It is undisputed that Respondent made the check good.

To prove that an attorney engaged in dishonest conduct, the Bar must prove the necessary element of intent by clear and convincing evidence. *The Florida Bar v. Cramer, 643* **So.2d** 1069 (Fla. 1994). The referee did not find any intent on Respondent's part, and the record would not support any

- 14 -

such finding. Under these circumstances, the referee could not properly conclude that the bouncing of the check constituted "dishonest conduct."⁴

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