IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 13 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Dopeny Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

v.

Complainant,

Case No. 86,586

[TFB Case Nos. 95-31,168 (07C)

95-31,421(07C)

95-31,597(07C)

95-31,715(07C)

95-31,718(07C)]

K. KRISTINE NOWACKI,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BARIS ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.
Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

Jan Wichrowski
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801-1085

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and will not be disturbed by this court absent a showing that they materially erroneous or unsubstantiated by the record. The are The Florida Bar v. Benchimol, 681 So. 2d 663, 665 (Fla. 1996). burden for making such ${\boldsymbol a}$ showing rests with the party seeking ${\boldsymbol a}$ Benchimol, review of the referee's factual findings, This cannot be accomplished merely by pointing out contradictory substantial evidence when the record contains other competent, Benchimol, supra. evidence to support the referee's findings. The bar submits the respondent has failed to carry this burden and the referee's findings are amply supported by the record. Further, his recommendation that the respondent receive a ninetyone day suspension is appropriate given the number of similar violations present here and the respondent's prior disciplinary history. The referee considered the mitigating factor of the serious illness and correctly determined that a respondent's suspension requiring proof of rehabilitation was still warranted, especially in light of the fact that some of the misconduct occurred before she underwent treatment for her cancer.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

A referee's findings of fact carry a presumption of correctness and will be upheld by this court unless the party seeking to challenge those findings can prove they are clearly erroneous or the record clearly contradicts the conclusions.

Benchimol, supra. This is because the referee acts as this court's fact finder and is in the best position to resolve conflicts in the testimony and evidence because he is able to observe each witness' demeanor. The Florida Bar v. Herzog, 521 so. 2d 1118, 1120 (Fla. 1988).

The respondent argues she was not put on notice that she was charged with failing to take action on settling Mr. Ludecker's case after June, 1994, and with failing to provide Mr. Ludecker with a copy of his file. Paragraph ten of the bar's complaint alleges "the respondent failed to timely and diligently pursue the legal matters for which she had been retained by Mr. Ludecker . . , [and] failed to adequately respond to Mr. Ludecker's numerous written and telephonic inquiries or provide him with

information about his case." Under rule 3-7.6 (g), pleadings may be informal and the complaint need only set forth the particular act or acts of conduct for which the attorney is sought to be disciplined. There is no need for the bar to have set forth every action of the respondent that showed neglect in her handling of Mr. Ludecker's case or every instance where she failed to adequately communicate with him. She was put on notice that she was charged with violating those rules in connection with her handling of Mr. Ludecker's case by Mr. Ludecker's initial grievance to the bar (exhibit 1 to B-Ex. 3) and by the bar's complaint.

So long as the bar's complaint alleges a rule violation and states the alleged acts of misconduct in clear and unambiguous terms, the complaint is deemed to be sufficient. Lambdin—v.—State, 9 So. 2d 192, 193 (Fla. 1942). A complaint that alleges the misconduct occurred in connection with the representation of a particular client has been deemed sufficient to put the lawyer on notice, although alleging a lawyer engaged in misconduct on many, unspecified instances is not sufficiently clear to advise the attorney of the particular acts alleged to have violated the rules. State V. Grant, 85 So. 2d 232, 233 (Fla. 1956). There

is no requirement that a bar complaint be drawn as precisely **as** a criminal indictment. Lambdin, supra. Furthermore, under The Florida Bar v. Stillman, 401 So. 2d 1306, 1307 (Fla. 1981), a referee may include in his or her report information not charged by the bar in its complaint.

Evidence of unethical conduct, not squarely within the scope of the Bar's accusations, is admissible, and such unethical conduct, if established by clear and convincing evidence, should be reported because it is relevant to the question of the respondent's fineness to practice law and thus relevant to the discipline to be imposed. <u>Stillman</u>, supra.

In The Florida Bar v. Vaughn, 608 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1992), a lawyer was found guilty of violating a rule that the bar did not charge in its complaint. In fact, the referee recommended he be found not guilty of all the rule violations charged by the bar in its complaint and instead recommended he be found guilty of failing to respond to the bar's investigative inquiries. The referee found, and this court agreed, that the bar's complaint had put Mr. Vaughn on notice about his failure to cooperate by including a paragraph stating that he had not responded to the bar's inquiry letters and had not attended the grievance committee hearing even though there was no corresponding rule

violation alleged.

The respondent's arguments that the record fails to support the referee's finding that she failed to diligently prosecute Mr. Ludecker's case are without merit. The June 30, 1994, letter contained in R-Ex. 18 is not, contrary to the respondent's statement in her initial brief, the only letter he wrote the respondent asking that she settle the matter. He also wrote her on June 24, 1994, requesting that she "please expedite and bring this divorce to a close" and copied the respondent with a letter he wrote to opposing counsel on an unknown date after June 27, 1994, wherein he again reiterated his desire to settle the case. (R-Ex. 18) . Irrespective of whether or not a client asks a lawyer to expedite a matter, the lawyer has an obligation to diligently pursue a legal matter and a failure to do so certainly cannot be excused by claiming a client has not repeatedly asked for the case to be resolved. The respondent's own billing statement, R-Ex. 25, clearly showed that after attending a hearing on May 26, 1994, other than reviewing a temporary support order on June 8, 1994, the respondent did absolutely nothing except review Mr. Ludecker's many letters until September 29, 1994, when she reviewed a Notice of Issue and Request to Docket

(R-Ex. 22), prepared and served by opposing counsel contradiction to the respondent's testimony at the final hearing that "we" had submitted the request for trial (T p. 145)]. billing statement alone more than fully supports the referee's finding that the respondent failed to diligently pursue the case. As for the referee's finding that the respondent failed to adequately communicate with Mr. Ludecker, Mr. Ludecker testified respondent failed to advise him of the contents of a the telephone conversation she had with opposing counsel concerning a matter despite Mr. Ludecker's request that she explain to him what opposing counsel's position was (B-Ex. 3 p.p. 9-10). He found it difficult to get the respondent to return his telephone calls (B-Ex. 3 p.p. 13, 14-15). There was no evidence the respondent attempted to write Mr. Ludecker because she was unable to contact him by telephone. (ROR-A3). There was no need to prove the respondent's secretary failed to inform her Mr. Ludecker had requested his file. It is presumed a lawyer's supervision of the office staff is sufficient to ensure that the staff conveys messages and a failure to do so would subject the lawyer to charges of failing to supervise the nonlawyer employees. final responsibility rests with the lawyer. The attorney's responsibilities cannot be delegated to the nonlawyer ethical

support staff.

With respect to the allegations contained in Count II of the bar's complaint pertaining to Ann Rogers, the respondent maintains the evidence was insufficient to support a finding the respondent intentionally engaged in dishonest conduct by paying Ms. Rogers with a check that was dishonored due to insufficient funds and failing to pay for the disputed hours during Ms. Rogers' last week of employment. The referee heard the testimony of both the respondent and Ms. Rogers at the final hearing and clearly gave greater weight to Ms. Roger's credibility than to the respondent's. Although the respondent may not have known the paycheck she wrote to Ms. Rogers in January, 1995, would be dishonored at the time she wrote the check, she would have been aware of the overdraft by the time the financial institution presented it for payment the second time. Yet the respondent failed to make the check good until one month later (T p. 28). There is substantial case law to support the referee's finding that the respondent's conduct constituted a dishonest act in violation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

In The Florida Bar v. Williams, 604 So. 2d 447 (Fla. 1992),

a lawyer was found guilty of violating, among other things, rules 3-4.3 and 4-8.4(c), both of which involve engaging in dishonest conduct, for having issued a worthless check. Ms. Williams paid the holder of a promissory note with a check that was dishonored due to insufficient funds. The holder of the note thereafter insisted she pay him in cash, a cashier's check or money order rather than issue him another check. She eventually paid the debt, but only after the note holder took legal action against her. There was no indication Ms. Williams knew the check would be dishonored due to insufficient funds at the time she wrote it.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Brodsky</u>, 471 So. 2d 1273 (Fla. 1985), a lawyer was suspended for three years after he paid another attorney for services rendered in connection with a case they both had been involved with as counsel by checks that were returned due to insufficient funds. The attorney who received the checks was unable to contact Mr. Brodsky to obtain payment. Mr. Brodsky was found guilty of having engaged in dishonest conduct under the former Code of Professional Responsibility.

In a **case** similar to the instant one, a lawyer employed a legal stenographer to perform services for him then paid her with

checks, one of which was drawn on his office account, that were dishonored due to insufficient funds. He was found guilty of having engaged in dishonest conduct. The Florida Bar v. Davis, 361 So. 2d 159 (Fla. 1978).

The respondent stated in her response to Ms. Roger's grievance to the bar that she had normally paid Ms. Rogers for time she had taken during her normal work hours to conduct personal business (page 8 to exhibit 1 of B-Ex. 1). Therefore, the bar submits that the evidence supports the referee's finding that the respondent's refusal to pay Ms. Rogers for the disputed number of hours worked during her last week of employment was dishonest. Clearly Ms. Rogers had an expectation, based on the respondent's prior policy, to be paid even if she did not work all the hours required.

In connection with Count III of the bar's complaint concerning Mr. Burns, the respondent makes much of the referee's finding that she knew little about Mr. Kwas' qualifications as a lawyer when she hired him as an associate attorney to run the office during her medical leave. However, this is not material to the allegations or the findings of fact. It is more in the

nature of an aggravating factor the referee determined existed based on the respondent's testimony that she did not know how long Mr. Kwas had been admitted to practice law in Florida (T p. 114). Certainly the number of years an associate lawyer has practiced would be an important piece of information to know if the associate was going to be working with little supervision. All the respondent knew was that he had worked for about three years as an assistant public defender (T p. 114). The respondent's practice did not emphasize criminal defense work. The respondent practiced primarily in the family law and bankruptcy fields (T p. 15).

When a lawyer employs an associate attorney, the lawyer has a responsibility under rule 4-5.1 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar to supervise that assistant. A supervising attorney is responsible for the actions of subordinate lawyers. The Florida Bar v. Hollander, 607 So. 2d 412 (Fla. 1992).

The bar submits the respondent's failure to advise Mr. Burns that his case would be handled by her associate, Mr. Kwas,

because she was taking a leave of absence from the office was a violation of the rules alleged by the bar in its complaint. Mr. Burns had a right to decide if he wanted to continue with the respondent as his counsel or retain another attorney. After the initial interview, she had very little personal contact with Mr. Burns (T p.p. 103-105, 118-119; B-Ex. 5). In the paperwork prepared by the respondent's office it was the respondent, and not Mr. Kwas, who was listed as the attorney for the debtor (R-Ex. 8; R-Ex. 10) . Clearly, the respondent was not available to Burns to answer any questions he might have had because she was on medical leave and available only for emergencies (T p.p. 104, 118). Mr. Burns believed he was hiring the respondent to file his bankruptcy for him, perform all the necessary services, important answer his questions and keep him advised as to developments. The respondent failed to perform as Mr. Burns required.

Concerning Count IV, involving Perry White, the respondent argues the evidence fails to support the referee's findings she violated the rules concerning neglect and inadequate communication. Mr. White had serious concerns about the effect the bankruptcy would have on his efforts to become a legal alien

and asked the respondent's advice on this issue (B-Ex. 6 p. 16). The respondent presented no evidence she made any effort to research Mr. White's question and obtain an answer for him on this very important issue. Such action, by itself, clearly supports a violation of the rules concerning negligence failure to explain a matter to the extent reasonable necessary to enable Mr. White to make an informed decision concerning whether or not it was in his best interest to file for bankruptcy at that He consulted the respondent for legal advice, not merely to have her act as a scrivener and fill out forms. According to Mr. White, he was not able to contact the respondent personally after he retained her and was told that if he wanted another consultation with her, it would cost him additional money (B-Ex. 6 p. 6). Clearly Mr. White terminated the respondent's services before she could have completed the paperwork because he never returned to her the completed questionnaire she needed to finish preparing the necessary bankruptcy documents (R-Ex, 12; R-Ex. 13; B-Ex. 6 p.p. 9, 18-19) and, therefore, Mr. White believed he was entitled to a refund of the initial retainer he had paid. He was not able to speak to the respondent directly about a refund. He only able to speak to Mr. Kwas (B-Ex. 6 p. 8). respondent testified she believed she had earned the fee Mr.

White paid, in part because she had accepted a number of creditor calls on his behalf (T p. 136), yet her billing statement (R-Ex. 13), sent to him only after he filed his grievance with the bar, showed no charges for this service and she also testified that she did not bill Mr. White for talking to his creditors (T p. 130). What is clear is that the respondent did not speak directly to Mr. White about his desire to be refunded whatever portion of the fee she had not earned.

Lastly, concerning Count V of the bar's complaint, regarding Teresa Arrington, the respondent maintains the evidence fails to support the referee's findings that she neglected Ms. Arrington's case and failed to adequately communicate with her. The respondent did not advise Ms. Arrington that she was taking a leave of absence and her associate attorney employee would be handling the matter (T p. 115), thus the respondent did not provide Ms. Arrington with the opportunity to decide if she wanted to retain the services of another lawyer. Ms. Arrington clearly believed she was not able to effectively communicate with the respondent (B-Ex. 8). Despite the respondent's statement on page 27 of her initial brief that her telephone logs indicated that she personally called Ms. Arrington from her office

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